NO. 45811-0-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

ANTHONY PARKER,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

**John A. Hays, No. 16654
Attorney for Appellant**

**1402 Broadway
Suite 103
Longview, WA 98632
(360) 423-3084**

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

1. The trial court's refusal to grant the defense attorney's motions to withdraw after he informed the court that he had two separate conflicts of interest denied the defendant effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment.

2. The trial court erred when it added firearm enhancements to the defendant's convictions for human trafficking and promoting prostitution because substantial evidence does not support a finding of a nexus between the defendant's possession of a firearm and the commission of either offense.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

1. Does a trial court deny a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 22, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment if it denies a defense attorney's motion to withdraw after that attorney informs the court that he or she (1) represents other clients whose interests are directly contrary to those of the defendant and (2) if the trial attorney informs the court that the defendant has used the trial attorney and the trial attorney's investigator to facilitate the commission of the crime of subornation of perjury?

2. Does a trial court err if it adds firearm enhancements to a defendant's convictions for human trafficking and promoting prostitution if substantial evidence does not support the finding of a nexus between the defendant's possession of the firearm and the commission of either offense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

By November of 2012 then 22-year-old Johanna Holliday found herself in the Kitsap County Jail and unable to post bail. RP 446-447.¹ She was an opiate addict whose drug of choice was percocet or heroin. RP 570-572. By the time she was incarcerated she was homeless and had lost her job and presumably lost her car when it was towed upon her most recent arrest. RP 446-447. While in jail Ms Holliday was housed in the same area in the jail as a person by the name of Lorena Llamas. RP 447. The two spoke often and became friends. *Id.* During these conversations Ms Holliday explained that she did not know how she was going to make money once she got out of jail. *Id.* Eventually Ms Llamas told Ms Holliday that her friend Anthony Parker might be willing to bail her out if she was interested in working for him as a prostitute while living with him in a home Ms Llamas's family owned in Bremerton. RP 448-449. Ms Holliday agreed and on December 6, 2012, the defendant Anthony Parker arranged to have her bail posted. RP 451-452. Upon release Ms Holliday had twenty dollars on a prepaid credit

¹The record on appeal includes seven volumes of verbatim reports of pretrial hearings, 12 volumes of verbatim reports of trial and two volumes of verbatim reports of sentencing. The trial transcripts are referred to herein as "RP [page #]." The pretrial and sentencing transcripts are referred to herein as "RP [date] [page #]."

card, a cell phone and the clothes she was wearing. *id.*

The day after her release Ms Holliday met the defendant for the first time. RP 454-455. He first took her to a Walmart and purchased some personal items for her and then took her to a house on 14th in Bremerton by the high school. *Id.* Although she did not necessarily want to work as a prostitute, the defendant told her that she could make a lot of money and that they could make a good life together if she did. RP 457-458. With her consent he then took some pictures of her and showed her how to post personal ads on a website called backpage.com. RP 458-459. He told her that it was dangerous to use her real name while working so he told her that her nickname would be “Baby Doll” and that his street name was “Baby Deuce.” RP 456-457. Thereafter she began working as a prostitute with the majority of her customers contacting her through backpage.com ads via her cell phone number or the defendant’s cell phone number which she would include in her periodic backpage.com posts. RP 463-468. She would meet with those customers at various locations, including hotel rooms she or the defendant would rent, hotels rooms the customers rented, or at the house on 14th in Bremerton. *Id.*

In each instance she would give the money she made to the defendant who would give her money back for food, personal items, and sometimes to purchase percocet pills, although the majority of the time he gave them to her.

RP 471-472. For the first few weeks he would tell her that he was saving the money for them. RP 467-468. In fact Ms Holliday believed that she was in a romantic relationship with the defendant. RP 530, 610, 643. Although she gave most of the money she made to the defendant she secretly did hold some back and used it to buy drugs. RP 471. Ms Holliday also cleaned the house on 14th where she and the defendant lived, although the defendant would spend time at other houses. RP 479-480. During this time he was very controlling of her actions, requiring her to get permission to leave the house and requiring that she lock herself in her bedroom when his friends came to visit. RP 471.

Initially Ms Holliday worked as a prostitute when she wanted and didn't work when she did not. RP 467-468. However, after a few weeks the defendant began to become insistent that she work more often and seek more customers each day than she did. *Id.* On a slow day she would usually make around \$1,000.00 while on a good day she could make up to \$5,000.00. RP 566. Although the defendant was initially very solicitous towards her, his demeanor began to change after a few weeks and he began to be verbally abusive. RP 479-480. On one occasion when she was coming down off drugs and couldn't work he became verbally abusive, calling her a "raggedy assed Ho" and a "Dope Fiend." *Id.* According to Ms Holliday, during this period of time the defendant did not have a job. RP 472. Although he made some

money selling drugs he got the majority of his money from her work as a prostitute. *Id.*

In December of 2012 or January of 2013 Ms Holliday had a court appearance in King County and got a customer to take her there and then drop her off at a nearby business. RP 486-487. She then called a gang associate of the defendant by the name of Anthony Flewellen, who gave her a ride to a house he shared with a woman by the name of Jennifer Prerost. *Id.* Mr. Flewellen goes by the nickname of “Blacc Jaccet.” *Id.* During this time the defendant had been attempting to call her and she had lied to him about where she was and what she was doing. *Id.* The next day Mr. Flewellen took her back to the defendant’s house in Bremerton. RP 487-488. Once at the house Mr. Flewellen and the defendant spoke for a little while and then the defendant had everyone leave. *Id.* At that point he locked the door and started beating Ms Holliday about the head, the face, legs and chest. RP 491-492. The beating lasted about 10 minutes with him verbally berating her during the assault. *Id.* According to Ms Holliday this was the first time he physically assaulted her. *Id.*

About a week later the defendant went to a friend’s funeral in Tacoma and left Ms Holliday alone at the house on 14th. RP 492-493. After he left she called “Blacc Jaccet” to bring her a pill because she was “dope sick.” *Id.* He drove over and then took her to the house he shared with Jennifer Prerost.

Id. During the drive she stated that she wanted to work for him instead of the defendant. RP 493-494. However, when Mr. Flewellen told her to decide one way or the other she decided that she would try to work things out with the defendant. *Id.* As a result, Mr. Flewellen left her with Jennifer Prerost at the house they shared. RP 495. A short time later the defendant showed up and started banging on the door to be let in. RP 495-497. Although Ms Holliday tried to hide by locking herself in a bedroom, the defendant eventually got into the house, kicked open the door to the bedroom and began to beat her. *Id.* During the assault he repeatedly smashed her head against the wall, threw her down, pulled out chunks of her hair, and beat her about the body until she lost bladder control and urinated on herself. *Id.*

At this point the defendant drug her out to his car and made her get in the back seat. RP 498-500. A woman was in the front seat and after driving off the defendant continued to verbally berate Ms Holliday to the woman in the front seat. *Id.* After dropping off the front seat passenger the defendant drove to a cousin's house, all the time telling Ms Holliday that he was going to take her in and let his cousin and his friends repeatedly rape her. *Id.* Once at this house the defendant parked the car and beat her again about her head and upper body causing significant bruising. RP 500-502. He then forced her into the house. *Id.* However, once inside he simply ordered her to go into the bathroom and clean herself up. *Id.* She did and within a few

minutes the defendant ordered her back out in the car. RP 502-506. Once back in the car he drove them back to the house on 14th in Bremerton. *Id.*

Upon arrival at the house the defendant ordered her to enter and she complied. RP 507-508. He then got out a pistol he kept hidden in the house, held it up to her head and asked her if she wanted to die. *Id.* Eventually the defendant passed out as did Ms Holliday a little while later. *Id.* Over the next week the defendant would occasionally strike her in the head, arms and legs. RP 510-511. At one point he became enraged with her, pulled a hanger out of a closet and whipped her with it. *Id.* For the next week he forced her to work as a prostitute, beating her if she did not bring back enough money. *Id.* Sometime the next week he became mad at her and kicked her in the ribs, knocking her out of bed. RP 538-540.

During this period of time the defendant would occasionally leave the house for periods of time. RP 524-526. On one of these occasions Ms Holliday called her friend Alisha for a ride to buy some percoset pills. RP 532-533. After buying the pills, the police stopped the car in which she was riding, took her cell phone and drugs, and asked her to meet with them. RP 534-535, 812-814. She agreed to do so but did not meet with them. *Id.* She later told the defendant that the police had taken her cell phone while she was out working. *Id.* About a week later Ms Holliday posted another ad on Backpage.com. RP 538-540. Within a short time she got a response and

agreed to go the Oyster Bay Inn in Bremerton to meet the customer who called. RP 541-543. However, when she entered the motel room with the customer she found out that he was a police officer. RP 541-543, 814-818. Two more officers then entered and arrested her and took her to the police station where she eventually gave them a lengthy statement about her activities with the defendant. *Id.*

After the interview the police obtained a search warrant for the house on 14th based upon Ms Holliday's statements. RP 819-821, 903-904. During the execution of the warrant the police arrested the defendant and found a .45 caliber semi-automatic pistol hidden in the basement. *Id.* In fact, Ms Holliday had previously retrieved the pistol from its original hiding place and put it in a bag and then in the basement at the request of the defendant, who was in jail at the time. RP 531. He had made this request via a coded telephone conversation with Ms Holliday in which he told her that the "monster under the bed needs to go downstairs and be put into a baggie." *Id.* In fact, the defendant has a prior conviction for a serious offense and cannot legally possess a firearm. RP 1118.

Procedural History

By information originally filed June 10, 2013, and later amended three times, the Kitsap county Prosecutor charged the defendant Anthony Dewayne Parker with the following 11 separate offenses and aggravators:

1. Human Trafficking in the First Degree (DV) with special allegations that (1) the defendant acted with deliberate cruelty and (2) while armed with a firearm when committing the offense;

2. Promoting Prostitution in the First Degree (DV) with special allegations that (1) the defendant acted with deliberate cruelty and (2) while armed with a firearm when committing the offense;

3. Second Degree Assault (DV) under a claim that he assaulted Johanna Holliday with intent to commit the felony of unlawful imprisonment and with special allegations that (1) the offense was part of an ongoing pattern of abuse manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time, (2) that the offense occurred within sight or sound of the victim or the defendant's minor child, or (3) that the defendant's conduct manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation;

4. First Degree Burglary (DV);

5. Second Degree Assault (DV) by the reckless infliction of substantial bodily injury with special allegations that (1) the offense was part of an ongoing pattern of abuse manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time, (2) that the offense occurred within sight or sound of the victim or the defendant's minor child, or (3) that the defendant's conduct manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation;

6. First Degree Kidnapping (DV) with special allegations that (1) the offense was part of an ongoing pattern of abuse manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time, (2) that the offense occurred within sight or sound of the victim or the defendant's minor child, or (3) that the defendant's conduct manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation;

7. Second Degree Assault (DV) by the reckless infliction of substantial bodily injury with special allegations that (1) the offense was part of an ongoing pattern of abuse manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time, (2) that the offense occurred within sight or sound of the victim or the defendant's minor child, or (3) that the defendant's conduct manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation;

8. Second Degree Assault (DV) by a deadly weapon with special allegations that (1) the offense was part of an ongoing pattern of abuse manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time, (2) that the offense occurred within sight or sound of the victim or the defendant's minor child, or (3) that the defendant's conduct manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation; and with a special allegation that the defendant was armed with a firearm during the commission of the offense;

9. Fourth Degree Assault (DV);

10. First Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm; and

11. Tampering with a Witness.

CP 1-9, 23-27, 46-60, 252-266.

By July 15, 2013, the court allowed the defendant's second appointed attorney to withdraw because of a conflict arising from that attorney having previously represented a state's witness. RP 7/15/13 1-7. The court thereafter appointed Mr. Matthew Wareham out of Tacoma to represent the defendant. RP 7/19/13 1-7. On October 28, 2014, about a week prior to the start of trial, Mr. Wareham appeared with the defendant in court and moved to withdraw based upon a conflict of interest arising from a business relationship between at least one of his current clients and one of the state's witnesses. RP 10/28/13 10-12. In making the motion Mr. Wareham requested the opportunity to speak *in camera* with the court without the defendant or the prosecutors present because of his duty of confidentiality to his current clients. *Id.* After doing a *Bone-Club* analysis the court found the

necessity for the closed hearing and allowed Mr. Wareham to set out his motion before another judge *in camera* without either the defendant or the prosecutor present. *Id.*

During the *in camera* hearing Mr. Wareham explained the following to the court concerning his conflict of interest: (1) the state's first witness was Seattle Police Officer Brian Taylor, who would be testifying as an expert witness on human trafficking, (2) Officer Taylor had been one of three officers who had formed a non-profit organization to aide the victims of human trafficking to get out of prostitution and get necessary drug and psychological treatment, (3) Mr. Wareham had previously provided legal advice to wealthy clients recommending that they contribute large sums of money to non-profit organizations involved in combating human trafficking including the non-profit Officer Taylor had helped found, (4) that Officer Taylor had left the non-profit he had helped found after allegations of embezzlement were made against another one of the other founding officers, and (5) that Mr. Wareham had subsequently recommended that his clients stop making any donations to the non-profit that Officer Taylor had helped found but had left. RP 10/28/13 (in camera) 1-15.

Mr. Wareham went on to state that he had explained the basis of the conflict to the defendant, who objected to Mr. Wareham continuing as his attorney. RP 10/28/13 (in camera) 15-16. Based upon these facts Mr.

Wareham argued that he had an actual conflict of interest and should be allowed to withdraw. RP 10/28/13 (in camera) 18-21. After considering the matter the court denied the motion on its belief that while there was the appearance of a conflict there was not actual conflict. RP 10/28/13 27.

The trial in this case began on November 4, 2013 and ran for 12 days. RP 1-1278. During this trial the state called thirteen witnesses and then recalled two of those witnesses for further testimony. RP 357-1118. These witnesses included Officer Brian Taylor, Johanna Holliday, Jennifer Prerost, and a number of investigating officers as well as civilian witnesses. *Id.* They testified to the facts contained in the preceding factual history. *See Factual History.*

During the morning of November 20, 2013, which was the ninth day of trial, the defense revealed that it had two or three witnesses to call once the state closed its case. RP 949-951. The prosecutors trying the case then complained to the court that they had not yet been able to interview them. *Id.* Mr. Wareham responded that he had instructed them to appear at the prosecutor's office at noon to be interviewed with him present. *Id.* In fact, the defendant had previously identified these witnesses to Mr. Wareham, arguing that they could provide evidence that he had never beaten or mistreated Ms Holliday, that he had tried to get her off drugs, that he had never coerced or encouraged her into performing an act of prostitution, and

that she performed acts of prostitution in order to finance her drug habit. RP 1/14/14 26-36. Upon receiving this information Mr. Wareham had his investigator interview these witnesses and get their information. RP 981-986. His conversations with his investigator and his investigator's responses following the interviews were contained in e-mails on Mr. Wareham and his investigator's computers. RP 1063-1067.

On the afternoon of November 20th the parties appeared before the court and Mr. Wareham made the following statement to the court:

MR. WAREHAM: Your Honor, there's just a few things that I need to put on the record, I believe, at this point in time.

It appears that – Mr. Parker insisted that I contact these witnesses. These witnesses were contacted by my private investigator. They were never contacted by me. We had thought they would have information that would be pertinent to the case. It has come to my attention during these interviews that my client may very well have sent letters to these witnesses. Now, the contents of the letters are unknown to me, but the State hinted that it had information or may have information – and the witnesses hinted to information too, as well – that it had information indicating that it was my client telling them what to say and what to do. Now, at this point in time, I don't know if that necessarily makes me a witness in this case. I don't believe it does. At this point in time, I believe this makes me a witness to the interview. I didn't witness the actual crime taking place. So I don't think there's any justification for me withdrawing at this point in time or any grounds for me to withdraw. But I just wanted to put it on the record that that's kind of what happened this afternoon.

RP 984-985.

By the next morning of trial Mr. Wareham had reconsidered his

position and moved to withdraw as the defendant's attorney based upon an actual conflict of interest between him and his client. RP 1063-1067. Specifically, Mr. Wareham noted that the e-mails between him and his investigator concerning the investigator's interviews with the witnesses the defendant had identified were discoverable materials in this case. *Id.* In fact, the state was now calling the witness he had endorsed the day previous and that witness had produced a letter he claimed the defendant sent him telling him what to say during his testimony. RP 2063-1067; Trial Exhibits No. 64-65. The trial court denied the motion. RP 1067. In fact, that witness did then testify before the jury, produced a letter he stated the defendant sent him, and stated that the defendant had requested that he testify to a number of facts that were not true. RP 1070-1098; Trial Exhibits No. 64-65.

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