NO. 45811-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ANTHONY DEWAYNE PARKER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON

Superior Court No. 13-1-00597-1

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TINA R. ROBINSON Prosecuting Attorney

RANDALL A. SUTTON Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 337-7174

	000
Ξ	140
5 I	Lon
E	Em
	Ant
Ĕ.	#77
E	183
v .	

John A. Hays 1402 Broadway Longview, WA 98632 Email: jahays@3equitycourt.com Anthony D. Parker #776122 C-Unit 1830 Eagle Crest Way Clallam Bay, WA 98326

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

merely for exercising this right. *State v. Rupe*, 101 Wn.2d 664, 704, 683 P.2d 571 (1984). The State may punish him for using a weapon in a commission of a crime, though, because a weapon can turn a nonviolent crime into a violent one, increasing the likelihood of death or injury. *State v. Gurske*, 155 Wn.2d 134, 138–39, 118 P.3d 333 (2005).

When a crime is a continuing crime a nexus obtains if the weapon was "there to be used," which requires more than just the weapon's presence at the crime scene. *Gurske*, 155 Wn.2d at 138, 118 P.3d 333. This potential use may be offensive or defensive and may be to facilitate the crime's commission, to escape the scene, or to protect contraband. Id. *Gurske*, 155 Wn.2d at 139. In every case, whether a defendant is armed is a fact specific decision. *Id.* Since the issue is fact specific, the facts and holdings of prior cases are helpful. *State v. Neff*, 163 Wn.2d 453, 462, 181 P.3d 819 (2008).

In State v. O'Neal, 159 Wn.2d 500, 503, 150 P.3d 1121 (2007), officers searched the defendants' methamphetamine laboratory. Besides evidence of drug manufacturing, the officers found over 20 guns, body armor, night vision goggles, and a police scanner. *Id.* A jury found the defendants guilty of manufacturing drugs and added a firearm enhancement. *Id.* The Supreme Court affirmed the firearm enhancement. *O'Neal*, 159 Wn.2d at 502. Since the weapons were easily accessible to

protect the drugs, and since the defendants kept a police scanner in the laboratory, the jury could find that the defendants used the guns to protect the drugs, and so the Court upheld their conviction. *O'Neal*, 159 Wn.2d at 504.

In *State v. Eckenrode*, 159 Wn.2d 488, 491, 150 P.3d 1116 (2007), the defendant called the police, alerting them to an intruder in his house. He told the dispatcher he was armed and ready to shoot the intruder. *Id.* When the police arrived, he was outside his home, sitting on his porch. *Id.* Police investigated and found he was growing marijuana and had two firearms in his house. *Eckenrode*, 159 Wn.2d at 491-92. A jury convicted him of drug charges and a firearm enhancement. *Eckenrode*, 159 Wn.2d at 492. The Court affirmed his conviction and enhancement. *Eckenrode*, 159 Wn.2d at 491. The defendant told the dispatcher he was armed. *Eckenrode*, 159 Wn.2d at 494. Police found two weapons, one loaded, and a police scanner in the house. *Id.* Under those facts, a jury was allowed to infer that the defendant armed himself to protect his criminal enterprise and so was allowed to find him armed while committing the crimes. *Id.*

In *Valdobinos*, 122 Wn.2d at 273, by contrast, police arrested the defendant when he offered to sell cocaine to an undercover officer. They searched his house, finding cocaine and an unloaded rifle under his bed.

Valdobinos, 122 Wn.2d at 274, 282. A jury convicted him of drug charges and a firearm enhancement. *Valdobinos*, 122 Wn.2d at 274. The Court reversed the enhancement, holding the jury could not infer from an unloaded rifle near the cocaine that the defendant was armed. *Valdobinos*, 122 Wn.2d at 282. Notably, however, no evidence indicated the gun was in the house to protect the drugs, as indicated by the presence of loaded weapons and police scanners in *O'Neal* and *Eckenrode*.

Finally, in *Neff*, when police searched Neff's garage, they found two loaded pistols in a safe, which also contained four bags of marijuana. Neff held the keys to the garage. The police found a third pistol hanging from a tool belt in the garage's rafters. While it was unclear from the record whether Neff could easily reach the gun, the Supreme Court construed the fact in the State's favor. Finally, the officers found two security cameras and a monitor in the garage on which to view live feeds. An officer testified that the monitors were for countersurveillance. *Neff*, 163 Wn.2d at 464. The Court concluded that these facts, together with all inferences favoring the State, were enough for a rational person to find beyond a reasonable doubt that Neff was armed, and affirmed the conviction and enhancement.

The rationale of these cases obtains here, because like manufacturing drugs, human trafficking and promoting prostitution are

continuing offenses. State v. Gooden, 51 Wn. App. 615, 754 P.2d 1000, review denied, 111 Wn.2d 1012 (1988).

Here, Holliday testified that Parker testified that Parker kept the gun accessible – under the mattress of in a hold in a piano that was in the hall. Prerost, who had lived with Parker and Holliday during the period in question, testified that Parker kept the gun to in case there was any trouble.

Even discounting this evidence, Parker's argument is that the gun was "only" used to commit the second-degree assault charged in Count VIII. What Parker ignores is that that assault was an integral part of the ongoing abuse and intimidation that Parker used to carry out the crimes of human trafficking and promotion of prostitution.

The gun was present and easily accessible during many of Parker's acts of force, coercion and threats against Holliday, and especially during the most egregious of those acts, the second-degree assault with a firearm, provides the required nexus. This claim should be rejected.

IV. PRP RESPONSE

The State respectfully moves this court for an order dismissing the timely-filed petition with prejudice because it is factually without merit.

V. AUTHORITY FOR PETITIONER'S RESTRAINT

The authority for the restraint of Anthony Parker lies within the

judgment and sentence entered by the Superior Court of the State of Washington for Kitsap County, on January 14, 2014, in cause number 13-1-00597-1, upon Parker's conviction of the offenses noted above in the procedural history section of this brief.

VI. PRP ARGUMENT⁴

A. THE CHARGING DOCUMENT CONTAINED ALL ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF EACH OF THE OFFENSES CHARGED.

Parker next claims that his charging document was inadequate. This claim is without merit because it contained all essential elements of each of the offenses charged.

Pursuant to both the Sixth Amendment United States Constitution, U.S. Const. amend. VI, and art I, § 22 of the Washington Constitution, "[a]ll essential elements of a crime, statutory or otherwise, must be included in a charging document in order to afford notice to an accused of

⁴ Although he does not include any argument on the issue, Parker asserts that the State's filing of an amended information amounted to prosecutorial vindictiveness. PRP at 4. In *State v. Korum*, 157 Wn.2d 614, 625, 141 P.3d 13 (2006), the Supreme Court observed that constitutional due process principles prohibit prosecutorial vindictiveness, which occurs when "the government acts against a defendant in response to the defendant's prior exercise of constitutional or statutory rights." *Korum*, 157 Wn.2d at 627 (*quoting United States v. Meyer*, 810 F.2d 1242, 1245 (D.C. Cir. 1987). Thus, "a prosecutorial action is 'vindictive' only if *designed* to penalize a defendant for invoking legally protected rights." *Id.* (emphasis the Supreme Court's). As noted in *Korum*, the United States Supreme Court has "emphatically rejected the notion that filing additional charges after a defendant refuses a guilty plea gives rise to a presumption of vindictiveness." *Korum*, 157 Wn.2d at 629 (*citing United States v. Goodwin*, 457 U.S. 368, 377-85, 102 S. Ct. 2485, 73 L. Ed. 2d 74 (1982), and *Bordenkircher v. Hayes*, 434 U.S. 357, 360-65, 98 S. Ct. 663, 54 L. Ed. 2d 604 (1978)). That is precisely what occurred here. This contention is thus without basis.

the nature and cause of the accusation against him." *State v. Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d 93, 97, 812 P.2d 86 (1991). This rule "requires that a charging document allege facts supporting every element of the offense, in addition to adequately identifying the crime charged." *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 98.

When, as here, a challenge to the language in a charging document is raised for the first time on appeal, the Court engages in a two-part inquiry. *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 105. First, the Court examines whether "the necessary facts appear in any form, or by fair construction can they be found, in the charging document." *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 105. Second, if the necessary facts do appear, the Court considers whether the defendant can "show that he or she was nonetheless actually prejudiced by the inartful language which caused a lack of notice." *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 106.

With respect to the first part of this inquiry, the Court liberally construes the charging language in favor of finding it sufficient. *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 103. Application of a liberal standard of construction discourages a defendant from engaging in sandbagging, that is, the tactic of waiting to challenge a charging document as defective until after trial because raising the issue beforehand might result in a curative amendment to the charging document. *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 103. Thus, "[u]nder this rule of liberal construction, even if there is an apparently missing

element, it may be able to be fairly implied from the language within the charging document." *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 104.

With respect to the second part of this inquiry, the Supreme Court has also recognized that a charging document that can be fairly construed as containing all essential elements of the charged offense might nonetheless have actually prejudiced a defendant. *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 105-06. Thus, "if the language is vague, an inquiry may be required into whether there was actual prejudice to the defendant." *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 106. The inquiry into whether there was actual prejudice "affords an added layer of protection to a defendant even where the issue is first raised after verdict or on appeal." *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 106.

Here, Parker complains that the information alleged that because the information alleged that the crimes, for example,⁵ in Count I, occurred on "or about November 1, 2012 and April 12, 2013," the information was defective. He argues that either the crimes had to have occurred either the specific dates alleged or that "and" should have read "through." However, despite this obvious typographical error, the information was not defective.

"All essential elements of a crime, statutory or otherwise, must be

⁵ Counts II through IX and XI contained similar language. CP 254-63. Count X only alleged a single date. CP 263.

included in a charging document in order to afford notice to an accused of the nature and cause of the accusation against him." *Kjorsvik*, 117 Wn.2d at 97. However, RCW 10.37.050(5) only requires that a charging document set forth sufficient facts to demonstrate that the statute of limitations has not expired. Unless time is an essential element, the State need not plead anything more specific. *State v. Carver*, 37 Wn. App. 122, 126, 678 P.2d 842, *review denied*, 101 Wn.2d 1019 (1984) (noting that the "test is whether the lack of specificity is prejudicial to the defendant").

Moreover, where "the [information] alleges that an offense allegedly occurred "on or about" a certain date, the defendant is deemed to be on notice that the charge is not limited to a specific date." *State v. Gassman*, 160 Wn. App. 600, 616, 248 P.3d 155 (*quoting State v. Bergin*, 214 Conn. 657, 574 A.2d 164, 173 (1990) (editing the Court's), *review denied*, 172 Wn.2d 1002 (2011). Finally, the Court does not generally treat a technical error in the information as an omission of an element warranting reversal. Technical errors include "the date of the crime." *Bellingham v. Struthers*, 109 Wn. App. 864, 867, 38 P.3d 1021 (2001) (*citing State v. Vangerpen*, 125 Wn.2d 782, 790, 888 P.2d 1177 (1995)), *review denied*, 146 Wn.2d 1019 (2002). The Court has consistently upheld convictions despite technical defects in the information. *State v.* Hopper, 118 Wn.2d 151, 160, 822 P.2d 775 (1992).⁶

Here, none of the charges had a specific date as an essential element. *See* RCW 9A.40.100(1) (human trafficking); RCW 9A.88.070(1) (promoting prostitution); RCW 9A.36.021(1)(a), (e) & (f) (second-degree assault); RCW 9A.52.020 (first-degree burglary); RCW 9A.040.020(1) (first-degree kidnapping); RCW 9A.36.041(1) (fourthdegree assault); 9A.72.120 (witness tampering). As such the dates in question were not essentially elements that were required in the information. Moreover, the use of the term "on or about" put Parker on notice that the dates were not precise. Finally, the date of the crime is a "technical error" that does not affect the validity of the conviction. 1

Further, there is no showing that this technical error in any way prejudiced the defense. There certainly is no evidence that defense counsel believed he was only defending against charges that occurred only on the two dates in the information. To the contrary, when the court instructed the jury, it used the term "through" on all but one to-convict instruction. The jury sent a note asking if the "and" instruction was

⁶ Parker relies on *State v. Stribling*, 164 Wn. App. 867, 267 P.3d 403 (2011) in support of this claim. However the part of the opinion that addresses the *Kjorsvik* issue is unpublished and should not be considered. GR 14.1(a); *Skamania County v. Woodall*, 104 Wn. App. 525, 536 n.11, 16 P.3d 701, *review denied*, 144 Wn.2d 1021 (2001). ("Unpublished opinions have no precedential value and should not be cited or relied upon in any manner"). In any event, that case supports the State's position. *See Stribling*, at ¶ 28.

incorrect. Parker's counsel agreed that the jury should be told that the

instruction should read "through":

THE COURT: Thank you.

The question, I'm going to read it out loud for the record, and then we have Mr. Talebi here from the prosecutor's office and we need to decide how to answer it.

The jury's question: In the wording of Count VIII, the date of the assault is stated as "on or about January 1, 2013 and February 2, 2013." The other counts have this date range "and"-- "and" is in quotes-- as a "through." Is the jury to determine guilt on 1/11/13 and 2/2/13 or 1/1/13

through 2/2/13?

And that is the jury's question. Any thoughts, Mr. Talebi or Mr. Wareham?

MR. TALEBI: I discussed it with Mr. Wareham. I think we're in agreement that it's, essentially, a scrivener's error. It should be "through." And it's on or about that date range. And I think that's the language in the lesser included also for that count.

I believe that's the only count that has the "and," and it was probably just something we missed when we were going through the instructions.

MR. WAREHAM: And, Your Honor, I'm sorry, I don't know if it's my time to speak, but I'm in agreement with that.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. WAREHAM: The lesser included is the reasoning behind that, includes it through. So I believe it was a scrivener's error. It was simply overlooked. And it should have been "through," not "and." "And" would not have made any sense. We didn't elicit any dates from any of the people as far as the assaults go. So I believe it should have been "through," not "and."

THE COURT: All right. I will answer it. So the date range should read 1/1/13 through 2/2/13. Is that

sufficient?

MR. WAREHAM: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. TALEBI: If you can include "on or about 1/1/13 through 2/2/13."

THE COURT: I'm going to rephrase it --I'm writing it as I'm speaking-- "The date range should read as follows: On or about January 1, 2013, through February 2, 2013."

Do you both concur?

MR. TALEBI: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. WAREHAM: Your Honor, the defense concurs, yes.

12RP 1266-68. Further in a declaration filed in support of a motion to dismiss, Parker's counsel cited the charging period as being "[b]etween the dates of November 1, 2012 and April 12, 213." CP 94.

Also notable is that in the instructions on lesser included offenses that Parker proposed, he included the "through" formulation (*e.g.* "on or about January 1st – February 2nd"). CP 284, 286-87, 297, 299-300; *see also* CP 294 ("on or about the 1st day of January 2013, Through February 2013"). Because this scrivener's error neither omitted an essential element of the offense, nor resulted in any prejudice to Parker's defense, this claim should be rejected.

B. THE POLICE PROPERLY SEARCHED PARKER'S PHONE AFTER OBTAINING A WARRANT AND PARKER LACKS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE SEARCHES OF HOLLIDAY'S PHONES.

Parker next claims that his rights were violated when the police

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